
Planning Policy & Built 
Heritage Working Party 
  

 
Please contact: Democratic Services 
Please email: democraticservices@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
Please direct dial on: 01263 516108 
 
Tuesday, 6 January 2026 
 
A meeting of the Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party of North Norfolk District Council will 
be held in the Council Chamber - Council Offices on Thursday, 15 January 2026 at 10.00 am. 
 
 
At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for 
approximately one and a half hours 
 

Members of the public who wish to ask a question or speak on an agenda item are requested to notify 
the committee clerk before 10am on the Thursday before the meeting and arrive at least 15 minutes 
before the start of the meeting. This is to allow time for the Committee Chair to rearrange the order of 
items on the agenda for the convenience of members of the public.  
 
Further information on the procedure for public speaking can be obtained from Democratic Services, Tel: 
01263 516108, Email: democraticservices@north-norfolk.gov.uk. 
 
Anyone attending this meeting may take photographs, film or audio-record the proceedings and report 
on the meeting.  Anyone wishing to do so must inform the Chairman.  If you are a member of the public 
and you wish to speak on an item on the agenda, please be aware that you may be filmed or 
photographed. 
 
Please note that this meeting is livestreamed:  
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsShJeAVZMS0kSWcz-WyEzg 

 

Please note that Committee members will be given priority to speak during the debate of agenda items 

 
 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services Manager 
 
To: Cllr M Hankins, Cllr A Varley, Cllr M Batey, Cllr A Brown, Cllr N Dixon, Cllr P Fisher, 
Cllr W Fredericks, Cllr P Heinrich, Cllr V Holliday, Cllr J Punchard, Cllr L Vickers and Cllr J Toye 
 
All other Members of the Council for information. 
Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public 

 

If you have any special requirements in order 
to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance 

If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in 
a different language please contact us 

 
Chief Executive: Steve Blatch 

Tel 01263 513811  Fax  01263 515042  Minicom  01263 516005 
Email  districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk  Web site  www.north-norfolk.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 
 

2.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

 
 

3.   MINUTES 
 

1 - 6 
 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of a meeting of the Working 
Party held on 21st November 2024 
 

 

4.   ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 
 

 To determine any other items of business which the Chairman decides 
should be considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 
100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

7 - 12 
 

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Code of Conduct 
for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest 
and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.  Members are 
requested to refer to the attached guidance and flowchart. 
 

 

6.   SCOPING AND OPTIONS REPORT: DESIGN CODE AND GUIDANCE 
 

13 - 
28 
 

 Scoping and Options Report: Design Code and Guidance 

Executive Summary The purpose of this report is to update Members with the 
options the Council has in updating the current 2008 adopted 
Design Guide supplementary Planning Guidance and seek 
endorsement of the proposed approach.  
 
 
 

Options considered 
 

The report considers the options for two work streams 
that are closely related to each other: updating the 
Council’s design guide and the potential for the 
creation of design codes. 
 
 The report considers an update to the 2008 Design 
Guide SPD to be essential to ensure the authority’s 
design principles are up to date with national guidance 
and the Council’s design aspirations following the 
Production of the new Local Plan, 2024- 2040. As part 
of this work, the report considers the options, 
including the creation of a new design guide, 
updating the current design guide, and/or creating a 
web-based version. Additionally, the design guide 
could be brought up to date through the 
incorporation of design codes.  
 

 



Design Codes are a useful tool to provide a district-wide 
framework for creating healthy, safe, environmentally 
responsive, sustainable, and distinctive places, with a 
consistent and high-quality standard of design. By 
building on the detailed design principles in the 
Council’s new Local Plan, a design code can also be 
expected to inform the design vision and design 
guidance. The report considers different options in 
this respect, including the implementation of area-
wide design codes or a more specific approach that 
relates to unique character areas such as the 
National Landscape or specific growth areas such 
as Cromer or North Walsham. There is also an 
alternative option whereby the Council produces 
design codes templates for developers to follow 
and adhere to, which offers a more cost-effective 
approach and could from part of a new policy 
requirement for the future Local Plan review.  

Consultation(s) No consultation has taken place as this is a scoping 
report to identify the potential work stream that will 
follow. It would be expected public consultation would 
be part of the process. 

Recommendations 
 

1 - That PPBHWP recommend to cabinet that the 
following options are endorsed in order to ensure the 
Council has a stronger, long-term influence of design 
across the district. 

 
Option 2 ‘Update Existing Design Guide’ which 
would include, in the first instance, consultants to 
provide an in-depth review of the design guide and 
what areas will need updating in the context of 
national guidance and Local Plan policy, whilst also 
keeping and updating relevant material.  

 
2 - With regard to design codes, the Council considers 

the production of a character specific design 
codes tailored to the growth locations within the 
district where practical, and/or the production of 
design code templates for developers to adhere to 
as the most practical options. 

 

Reasons for 
recommendations 
 

This approach is a suitable and resource efficient way 
forward in regard to updating the Councils planning 
design guidance in order to ensure the Council has a 
stronger, long-term influence of design across the 
district. 

Background papers 
 

N/A 

 
 



Wards affected All 

Cabinet member(s) Cllr Brown 

Contact Officer Matthew Gutteridge 
Senior Planning Officer 
Matthew.gutteridge@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

 

Links to key documents: 
 

Corporate Plan:  
N/A  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) 
   

N/A 

Council Policies & 
Strategies  

The Local Plan 

 

Corporate Governance: 
 

Is this a key decision  
 No 

Has the public interest 
test been applied 

No 

Details of any previous 
decision(s) on this 
matter 

No previous decisions relate to this report.  

 
 

7.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 
 

  To pass the following resolution (if necessary): 
 

“That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for 
the following items of business on the grounds that they 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act.” 

 

 

 

mailto:Matthew.gutteridge@north-norfolk.gov.uk
https://www.north-norfolk.gov.uk/media/11773/north-norfolk-local-plan-2024-2040.pdf


PLANNING POLICY & BUILT HERITAGE WORKING PARTY 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party held on 
Thursday, 21 November 2024 at the Council Chamber - Council Offices at 10.00 am 
 
Committee  Cllr M Hankins (Chairman) Cllr A Varley (Vice-Chairman) 
Members Present: Cllr A Brown Cllr N Dixon 
 Cllr P Fisher Cllr V Holliday 
 Cllr J Toye  

 
Officers in  
Attendance: 

Planning Policy Team Leader, Democratic Services & Governance 
Officer, Planning Monitoring Officer and Senior Planning Officer 

 
Apologies for 
Absence: 

Cllr M Batey 
Cllr H Blathwayt 
Cllr P Heinrich 
Cllr L Paterson 
Cllr J Punchard 
Cllr W Fredericks 
 

19 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Cllr M Batey, Cllr W Fredericks, Cllr P 
Heinrich, Cllr L Paterson, Cllr J Punchard and the Assistant Director for Planning. 
 

20 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

 None received. 
 

21 MINUTES 
 

 The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held Thursday 10th October 2024 were 
approved as a correct record. 
 

22 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 None. 
 

23 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 None received. 
 

24 NORFOLK GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE AND RECREATIONAL IMPACT 
AVOIDANCE AND MITIGATION STRATEGY 
 

 The Acting Planning Policy Manager introduced the attached Officers report. He 
advised the strategy is now at the stage of implementation having gone through the 
Norfolk Strategic Framework. The Officer shared a memorandum of understanding 
for a member led forum, run by Project Officer based at Norwich City Council. 
 
Cllr N Dixon expressed concern relating to matters of governance and 
accountability, related to the selection criteria and merit of schemes as well as the 
evidence of long-term and short-term outcomes. Understands there is a healthy 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



funding stream, which appears to be delivering but would query the evidence for 
this.  
 
With reference to the second recommendation, Cllr N Dixon expresses the 
importance of a member on the board able to represent concerns and raise them at 
the forum. He also finds the absence of NCC as part of the scheme worrying and 
would expect them to lead the scheme given their area coverage. He believes this 
offers a significant impediment to the completeness of the scheme.  
 
Cllr V Holliday shared her concerns with the evidence base and sense checking of 
actions, with some proposals having the consequence of increasing footfall to 
sensitive areas. 
 
Having spent time on the previous strategy, Cllr V Holliday advised this had much 
more prioritisation on local green infrastructure. She advises the zones of influence 
are much smaller, previously reaching Peterborough and Lincolnshire but now 
restricted to Norfolk. She also noted that the GIRAMS payments are much lower 
than elsewhere nationally and queried why NNDC had been capped at a lower 
figure.  
 
Cllr V Holliday cautioned against installing a WooWoo Loo due to increase of footfall 
hindering ability to cope.  
  
Cllr J Toye raised concerns over the governance and control of how this project is 
delivered. Querying whether the data shared, particularly in relation to housing, is 
up-to-date or needs a proposal to be reviewed. 
 
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised that the implementation of mitigation 
was not considered specific enough which has led to further work on aims of the 
project.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised there will be a combination of projects with 
focus on recreational activities away from European sites, these projects will be 
subject to ongoing monitoring to make sure they are achieving the desired 
outcomes. The Senior Planning Officer advised with new mitigation and avoidance 
measures success will be varied hence the various projects to recognise what is 
effective. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer advised NCC would not make decisions on schemes 
relating to housing growth which may influence their involvement in the project.  
 
With reference to the zones of influences, NNDC cannot charge GIRAMS outside 
of the county, which is noted as a countrywide issue. The tariff is charged based on 
overnight accommodation including tourist accommodation. It is based on a 
calculation of current projects and subject to change based on new projects and 
inflation. 
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager referenced the housing growth which has been 
based on the most up-to-date figures and continue to be revised each time. Does 
not include further consultation figures. In relation to the Memorandum to 
Understanding, NNDC are committed to implement the scheme. Whilst NCC were 
involved with trying to host, there was a legal issue which made this not possible.  
 

Page 2



 Cllr V Holliday reiterated the concern for lack of evidence and data. Questioned 
where the expertise is coming from on the board and questioned the lack of money 
going into the diversionary projects. Queried the judgement of not adjusting the tariff 
until the next review, preventing the implementation of projects in the meantime. 
 
The officers confirmed that the Senior Planning Officer would be involved with the 
projects. They confirmed the diversionary projects are long-term goals. The tariff is 
index linked, going up with inflation. Regarding the tariff there is no impact on our 
budget, as it is based on diversionary project contributions, however if there were 
significant projects they may require a contribution from the Council. It is important 
to get this in motion and start delivering.  
 
Cllr A Brown advised that he attended the Norfolk Strategic Planning Member Forum 
when action plan was first aired. Stated the next 22 years of action plan would cost 
twenty-two million pounds, increasing the per dwelling tariff of 33%, which 
developers would see as a stealth tax affecting their value for money. 
 
Cllr A Brown reiterated the concerns regarding governance arrangements and NCC 
not playing a prominent role. As portfolio holder and attendee of Norfolk Strategic 
Planning Member Forum would be agreeable to sit on the board.  
 
Cllr A Brown asked if there are any different policies regarding monies going across 
to NCC. 
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised without the scheme, the developer 
would need to develop their own HRA scheme which would be onerous and 
therefore they willingly pay the fee. The monies referenced are collected via either 
S111 or S106 agreement. The action plan looks at proportionate funding, with the 
expectation of other funding streams, not just GIRAMS. 
 
Cllr J Toye reiterated the desire for NCC involved with the project. Cllr A Brown 
agreed. 
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager explained that as NCC are not responsible 
bodies, this would not be possible as this is a Local Authority group. They are 
involved with steering group but would not be a signature due to their own rules. 
NCC do not collect GIRAMS money. 
 
Cllr J Toye believes that as it is a countywide project, they should be involved with 
no voting rights as an advisory capacity.  
 
Cllr N Dixon echoed the concerns regarding NCC involvement and would like to 
thoroughly investigate this decision. Need the evidence of governance, 
accountability, and progress updates to be clear and communicated.  
 
With reference to the nomination of an appropriate Member to sit on the GIRAMS 
board, Cllr N Dixon believes having another voice alongside Cllr A Brown as 
Portfolio Holder is important and therefore nominated Cllr V Holliday as the 
appropriate Member to sit on the GIRAMS board. 
 
Cllr V Holliday confirmed her desire to be on the board. Would like NCC to be on 
the board as a voting member and there is a need for an earlier review date.  
 
Cllr N Dixon proposed the endorsement of the recommendations with caveats, 
including the review of appropriate representatives. The final wording to be drafted 

Page 3



by the Acting Planning Policy Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and 
Chair of Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party. 
 
Cllr J Toye suggested the addition of reference to the endorsement of the 
attendance of appropriate representatives, including NCC, who offer countywide 
oversight. Cllr N Dixon echoed the need to endorse the addition of value from 
appropriate representatives.  
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised he can put some wording together and 
circulate it back to the board for distribution. Advised NCC will most likely be involved 
on their own behalf.  
 
Cllr N Dixon proposed Cllr V Holliday as the appropriate Member to sit on the 
GIRAMS board. Cllr P Fisher seconded the motion.  
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED 
 
Cllr N Dixon proposed the Officer’s recommendation. Cllr P Fisher seconded 
the motion.  
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED 
 
Members of the Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party recommend 
to Cabinet that: 
I. The Action Plan and Governance arrangements are endorsed 
II. Nominate appropriate Member to sit on the GIRAMS board 
 
 
 

25 PLANNING IN HEALTH PROTOCOL 
 

 The Acting Planning Policy Manager outlined the updated ‘Planning in Health 
Protocol.’ This was endorsed by Norfolk Strategy Framework as well as the Health 
and Wellbeing Board with draft approval by the ICB Executive Management team. 
It was previously endorsed by this Work Party and NNDC as a council.  
 
Cllr N Dixon felt that the documents are important but secondary to delivery. Cllr V 
Holliday supported Cllr N Dixon’s views in welcoming the document with concerns 
regarding the implementation and funding streams. Considering the document 
aspirational and would like the document to be continually reviewed. 
 
The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised the document is evolving, with further 
editions expected. NNDC have not been involved in the development of this but 
have contributing through the Norfolk Strategic Framework, NNDC policies would 
require health impact assessments.  
 
Cllr J Toye questioned whether there are safeguards in place to prevent cumulative 
effects of developments. The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised that NNDC’s 
local plan is input into the model. 
 
Cllr A Brown advised the Planning in Health Protocol is a revisit, previously sent 
back by NNDC with recommendations. There is reference to the community 
infrastructure levy, are we at a disadvantage by not adhering to this. He asked how 
NNDC would engage with this project.  
 

Page 4



The Acting Planning Policy Manager advised he does not have an answer for this 
as the delivery of health infrastructure is not a planning authorities’ responsibility. 
The protocol states there is one point of contact for health at the application level.  
 
Cllr A Brown proposed the Officer’s recommendation. Cllr A Varley seconded 
the motion.  
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED 
 
Members of the Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party: 

I. note the updated content and the new approach to embedding 
health and wellbeing in spatial planning and 

II. II. recommend to Cabinet that the revised Planning for Health 
Protocol be used when preparing Local Plans and determining 
planning applications. 

 
 
 

26 ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT - PRESENTATION 
 

 The Planning Monitoring Officer introduced the report, which was for information 
only. 
 
 
 

27 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

  
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 12.06 pm. 
 
 

 
______________ 

Chairman 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 
in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register  
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 

 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence

or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not

participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



   

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of

the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –

a. your own financial interest or well-being;

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; or

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable

Interests  as set out in Table 2

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it

would affect your view of the wider public interest

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote 

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure  that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

Page 8



    

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 

Page 9

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or 
a body that such person has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the council 
— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and

(b) either—

(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were

Page 10



  

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and

provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building

society.

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:  

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body

(i) exercising functions of a public nature

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

Page 11



Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

Page 12



 

 

 

Scoping and Options Report: Design Code and Guidance 

Executive Summary The purpose of this report is to update Members with the 
options the Council has in updating the current 2008 
adopted Design Guide supplementary Planning Guidance 
and seek endorsement of the proposed approach.  
 
 
 

Options considered 
 

The report considers the options for two work 
streams that are closely related to each other: 
updating the Council’s design guide and the 
potential for the creation of design codes. 
 
 The report considers an update to the 2008 Design 
Guide SPD to be essential to ensure the authority’s 
design principles are up to date with national 
guidance and the Council’s design aspirations 
following the Production of the new Local Plan, 2024- 
2040. As part of this work, the report considers the 
options, including the creation of a new design 
guide, updating the current design guide, and/or 
creating a web-based version. Additionally, the 
design guide could be brought up to date through 
the incorporation of design codes.  
 
Design Codes are a useful tool to provide a district-
wide framework for creating healthy, safe, 
environmentally responsive, sustainable, and 
distinctive places, with a consistent and high-quality 
standard of design. By building on the detailed design 
principles in the Council’s new Local Plan, a design 
code can also be expected to inform the design vision 
and design guidance. The report considers 
different options in this respect, including the 
implementation of area-wide design codes or a 
more specific approach that relates to unique 
character areas such as the National Landscape 
or specific growth areas such as Cromer or North 
Walsham. There is also an alternative option 
whereby the Council produces design codes 
templates for developers to follow and adhere to, 
which offers a more cost-effective approach and 
could from part of a new policy requirement for the 
future Local Plan review.  

Consultation(s) No consultation has taken place as this is a scoping 
report to identify the potential work stream that will 
follow. It would be expected public consultation would 
be part of the process. 

Recommendations 
 

1 - That PPBHWP recommend to cabinet that the 
following options are endorsed in order to ensure 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

 

the Council has a stronger, long-term influence of 
design across the district. 

 
Option 2 ‘Update Existing Design Guide’ which 
would include, in the first instance, consultants to 
provide an in-depth review of the design guide and 
what areas will need updating in the context of 
national guidance and Local Plan policy, whilst 
also keeping and updating relevant material.  

 
2 - With regard to design codes, the Council 

considers the production of a character specific 
design codes tailored to the growth locations 
within the district where practical, and/or the 
production of design code templates for 
developers to adhere to as the most practical 
options. 

 

Reasons for 
recommendations 
 

This approach is a suitable and resource efficient way 
forward in regard to updating the Councils planning 
design guidance in order to ensure the Council has a 
stronger, long-term influence of design across the 
district. 

Background papers 
 

N/A 

 
 

Wards affected All 

Cabinet 
member(s) 

Cllr Brown 

Contact Officer Matthew Gutteridge 
Senior Planning Officer 
Matthew.gutteridge@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

 

Links to key documents: 
 

Corporate Plan:  
N/A  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) 
   

N/A 

Council Policies & 
Strategies  

The Local Plan 

 

Corporate Governance: 
 

Is this a key decision  
 No 

Has the public interest 
test been applied 

No 

Page 14

mailto:Matthew.gutteridge@north-norfolk.gov.uk
https://www.north-norfolk.gov.uk/media/11773/north-norfolk-local-plan-2024-2040.pdf


 

 

Details of any previous 
decision(s) on this 
matter 

No previous decisions relate to this report.  

 

1. Purpose of the report 
 

This report explores the feasibility and strategic value of updating the 
current 2008 Design Guide supplementary Planning Document, SPD, and 
implementing an Area-Wide Design Code for North Norfolk District 
Council (NNDC). It evaluates existing design guidance, national policy 
frameworks, comparative approaches across Norfolk authorities, and the 
potential benefits of adopting a district-wide code and updating the 
currently adopted 2008 Desing Guide SPD.  

 

2. Introduction & Background 
 

2.1. Design codes are increasingly recognised as essential tools in shaping 
high-quality, sustainable, and locally distinctive places. While site-specific 
codes are commonly used at the application stage, area-wide design 
codes apply across broader geographies, offering a strategic framework 
for guiding development at scale. This report outlines the rationale, scope, 
and potential implementation strategy for such a code and design guide 
update and seeks members endorsement for this future work stream. 

3. National Design Policy Context 

3.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

3.1.1. The NPPF emphasises the importance of good design throughout the 
planning process. Key principles include proactive planning, community 
engagement, use of design quality tools, and robust decision-making.  

3.2 National Design Guide and National Model Design Code 

 

3.2.1. The National Design Guide (NDG), published in October 2019, and the 
National Model Design Code (NMDC), released in July 2021, represent 
key components of the Government’s approach to improving design 
standards across the planning system. These documents provide a 
nationally consistent framework for achieving high-quality, sustainable, 
and beautiful places. The NDG sets out ten characteristics of well-
designed places, these being: Context, Identity, Built-Form, Movement, 
Nature, Public Spaces, Uses, Homes & Buildings, Resources and 
Lifespan. The NMDC on the other hand provides a structured 
framework for creating local design codes. It includes a four-step 
coding process (Analysis, Visioning, Coding, Implementation) and 
detailed guidance notes. Core principles include reflecting local 
character, engaging communities, providing clarity, and ensuring 
flexibility. 

 

Page 15



 

 

3.2.2. Both documents are referenced within the updated NPPF and feature 
especially in paragraphs, 133, 134 and 138, which emphasise the 
importance of design in planning decisions. The NPPF encourages 
local planning authorities to prepare design guides and codes in line 
with the NDG and NMDC and gives significant weight to development 
that aligns with the principles set out in both documents. Their 
implementation is designed to support the Government’s approach to 
promoting beauty in the built environment, improving placemaking and 
ensuring that new development contributes positively to its 
surroundings. 

 
3.2.3. For NNDC and the design guide to be considered up to date, this 

means it should be adherent to the principles as described within both 
aforementioned documents, alongside the requirements as set out in 
the NPPF.  

3.3 Levelling-Up and Regeneration Act 

 

3.3.1. The Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023 (LURA) introduces a shift 
in the role and status of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs). 
Under the new legislative framework, SPDs will be phased out and 
replaced by a new category of planning documents known as 
Supplementary Plans. Unlike SPDs, which previously held limited 
weight in decision-making, Supplementary Plans will form part of the 
statutory development plan and therefore carry full legal weight in 
planning determinations. 

 
3.3.2. This change will have significant implications for local planning 

authorities. The preparation of Supplementary Plans will be subject to 
formal procedures, including public consultation and independent 
examination, aligning them more closely with the process for Local 
Plans. While this enhances transparency and strengthens the role of 
detailed policy guidance, it also introduces additional resource and time 
requirements. Authorities will need to carefully consider the scope and 
necessity of future Supplementary Plans to ensure they are deliverable 
within the new statutory framework. 

 
3.3.3. For NNDC, a Supplementary Plan could be used to produce an 

authority-wide design code and/or an update to the currently adopted 
Design Guide, with the aim of providing and reinforcing an overarching 
design vision, setting out high level strategic design parameters to 
apply to development. In undertaking an update to the adopted Design 
Guide SPD, the Council will ultimately have a choice on how to 
proceed, and the status afforded to the updated document. 

3.4 Emerging Local Plan 

 

3.4.1. The Council’s new Local Plan introduces an updated design policy 
ENV8 High Quality Design which has a focus on reinforcing and 
creating a sense of place through implementing requirements for 

Page 16



 

 

developments based on key areas of design such as; public realm and 
open spaces, landscaping and green infrastructure, awareness of 
special character and an emphasis on accessibility and the 
environment. It is expected that any potential work to update or 
recreate the Council’s design guide will need to align with the key 
themes identified in Policy ENV8.  

4. Existing Design Guidance 

 

4.1 NNDC Design Guide (2008) 

 

4.1.2. The current Design Guide, adopted in 2008, serves as supplementary 
guidance to the Local Development Framework – North Norfolk Core 
Strategy.  It supports and specifically refers to the policies within the 
now superseded Core Strategy and site-specific DPD. However, the 
policies within the Core Strategy that directly influence the Design 
Guide included:  

 

 EN2 Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and 

Settlement Character, 

 EN4 Design,  

 EN5 Public Realm, 

 EN6 Sustainable Construction and Energy Efficiency,  

 EN8 Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment. 

4.1.3.  It offers advice in relation to these policies on residential and 
commercial development, building conversions, shopfronts, materials, 
sustainability, and landscape integration. Although an earlier review 
was initiated to modernise the guide, the release of the National Design 
Guide and its integration into the NPPF shifted the national design 
context. In the short term, NNDC has opted to retain the existing guide 
while relying on national guidance for contemporary advice.  

 
4.1.4. With the conclusion of the new  Local Plan, a review of the design guide 

offers the opportunity to bring the guide up to date to reflect the policy 
requirements of the Local Plan and updated design ambitions. In 
particular, it is thought the design implications of the following policies 
could be incorporated: 

 
 

 

 Policy CC3 ‘Sustainable Construction, Energy Efficiency 

& Carbon Reduction’  

 Policy CC8 ‘Electric Vehicle Charging’ 

 Policy CC9 ‘Biodiversity Net Gain’ 

 Policy CC10 ‘Green Infrastructure’ 

Page 17



 

 

 Policy CC11 ‘Trees, Hedgerows & Woodlands’ 

 Policy HC1 ‘Health & Wellbeing’ 

 Policy HC2 ‘Provision & Retention of Open Spaces 

 Policy HC5 ‘Fibre to Premises (FTTP)’ 

 Policy HC7 ‘Parking Provision’ 

 Policy ENV2 ‘Protection & Enhancement of Landscape & 

Settlement Character’ 

 Policy ENV3 ‘Heritage and Undeveloped Coast’ 

 Policy ENV5 ‘Impacts on Internationally Designated Sites: 

Recreated Impact Avoidance & Mitigation Strategy 

 Policy ENV7 ‘Protecting & Enhancing the Historic 

Environment’ 

 Policy ENV8 ‘High Quality Design’ 

 Policy E4 ‘Retail and Town Centre Development’ 

 Policy E5 ‘Signage & Shopfronts’ 

 Policy HOU8 ‘Accessible & Adaptable Homes’ 

 Policy HOU9 ‘Minimum Space Standards’ 

 
4.1.5. With particular reference to Policy HC1, its incorporation into the guide 

is an opportunity to expand on the requirements of health protocol and 
provide more context surrounding the healthy planning checklist, 
building for life and 250 dwellings threshold. Moreover, the update 
provides an opportunity to included updated advice on incorporating 
renewable energy technologies into development and design with the 
implementation of technologies such as heat pumps, solar panels etc in 
line with the expectations of Policy CC3. The Local Plan includes a 
number of policies that prioritise green infrastructure in development in 
addition to Policy CC10, including ENV5, HC2 & C11, all of which 
focuses on similar themes, the design guide can bring together the 
requirements of each of these policies into clear and cohesive 
guidance that ensures these requirements are met.  

 
4.1.6. Moreover, such policies offer an opportunity for the guide to provide 

wider context on areas such as dark skies. Additionally, Policy HOU8 & 
HOU9 involve a strong focus on ensuring design which the guide can 
expand upon, ensuring homes are well laid out and practical to live, 
whilst meeting and supporting the needs of everyone. The current 
design guide includes references and content relating to sustainable 
construction however elements are now out of date and this particularly 
area of the design can be greatly improved upon to help support 
policies such as CC3 and ENV8.  

Page 18



 

 

5. Design Codes vs Design Guides 

5.1 Comparison 

 

5.1.1.  As referred to above, a design code is a set of precise, visual and 
measurable rules and requirements for the physical development of a 
site or area. The expectation with Design Codes is for these to be 
followed exactly, often forming part of planning policy or a condition of 
planning consent. 

 
5.1.2.  Design Codes usually include specific parameters such as building 

heights, materials, street widths, boundary treatments and other 
specific design details. It can also reference bespoke requirements as 
required by policy or planning consent, and they are a useful tool in 
ensuring consistent quality in developments, particularly for large-scale 
schemes. At an area-wide level, design codes could identify key parts 
of the district that require more sensitive design an identify what 
requirements should be sought in these areas. 

 
5.1.3.  Design Guides are more flexible and are often represented as an 

advisory tool that outlines principles and best practices for good design. 
This may include high level masterplans, illustrative plans and 
reference existing case studies and examples that inform the 
development’s approach to design. 

 
5.1.4. Design Guides are often most useful early in the planning process to 

influence design at an early stage and can a be a useful tool in pre-
application process. Having an up-to-date design guide would be a 
valuable resource for applicants when drafting their own development 
briefs, as they provide clear expectations and design principles, and 
potentially avoiding any issues later in the application process.    

6. Case Studies and Best Practice 

6.1 National Examples of Design Codes 

 

6.1.1.  Examples include Upton (Northampton), known for being one of the 
earliest and most cited examples in the UK, the code focuses on 
connectivity and mixed-use developments whilst ensuring high design 
quality. Northstowe (Cambridgeshire) is a large new town development 
with a detailed design code guiding each phase of development, there 
is a strong emphasis on sustainability, connectivity and integration with 
exiting communities.  

 
6.1.2.  More notably, an example of an area-wide design code in the UK is the 

Dover Design Code currently being drafted by Dover District Council. 
The Dover Design Code aims to reflect local character and design 
preferences, providing a framework for assessing the design quality of 
future development. It aligns with the National Planning Policy 

Page 19

https://hdawards.org/scheme/upton-site-c/
https://www.northstowe.com/design-code
https://www.dover.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/design-code/design-codes.aspx


 

 

Framework (NPPF), which recommends the use of design codes to set 
out clear, visual, and numerical design parameters. The code will be 
used to determine whether planning applications meet acceptable 
design standards and will support the implementation of the Local Plan. 
This approach exemplifies the shift towards authority-wide design 
codes encouraged by the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023, 
which seeks to embed design quality across entire planning areas. 

 
6.1.3.  Another example is the Lichfield District Design Code which is an 

adopted SPD as of December 2024. The code provides clear, practical 
guidance on what constitutes good design across the district. It covers 
urban, suburban, and rural contexts, aiming to ensure consistency in 
design quality while respecting local character. The code is structured 
to support planners, developers, and communities by offering certainty 
and reducing ambiguity in decision-making. 

7. Norfolk Authorities 

 

7.1.  NNDC is the only local authority in Norfolk not to have undertaken work 
in regard to updating their design guidance and expected changes to 
the planning system in the near future will potentially expose NNDC as 
an area of Norfolk with limited design expectations in comparison to 
other local authorities. Below is a brief overview of the current status of 
each local authority in relation to their work on providing design 
guidance. 

 
7.1 Breckland District Council 
 
7.1.1.  A Design Guide1 was produced in 2023/2024, in conjunction with the 

Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment, with the two being 
used as companions to each other. The guide focuses on local 
character, local community planning and developments in sensitive 
locations. There is also a more specific design guide for Breckland 
Market Town Shopfront. 

 
7.2 Broadland & South Norfolk District Council 
 
7.2.1.  Broadland & South Norfolk2 are creating a join district wide Design 

Code which is currently in development. This has already been through 
three stages of consultation, the latest being in June this year. This 
Design Code will then become an adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) later this year. 

 
7.2.2.  This Design Code will apply to most new residential development, 

especially those under 500 dwellings. Its main focus is on: 
 

                                                 
1 Breckland Design Guide - Breckland Council 
2 South Norfolk and Broadland Design Code Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) | 
Broadland and South Norfolk 

Page 20

https://www2.lichfielddc.gov.uk/files/2024/03/Appendix-A-Lichfield-Design-Code_MAIN_240318_compressed.pdf
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/22914/Breckland-Design-Guide
https://www.southnorfolkandbroadland.gov.uk/planning/future-development/supplementary-planning-documents/broadland-and-south-norfolk-district-wide-design-codes
https://www.southnorfolkandbroadland.gov.uk/planning/future-development/supplementary-planning-documents/broadland-and-south-norfolk-district-wide-design-codes


 

 

 Building height, form, and materials 

 Landscaping and green infrastructure 

 Parking and bin storage design 

 Street layout and public realm 

7.2.3.  A character assessment supported the Design Code by identifying 
local distinctiveness and includes an assessment toolkit to help 
developers and planner evaluate their proposals against the Design 
Code.  

 
 
7.3 King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council (Areas of Opportunity) 
 
7.3.1.  As part of their Local Plan Review, King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 

Borough Council identified Areas of Opportunity. These are strategic 
locations earmarked for regeneration, enhancement, or targeted 
development to support the borough’s spatial strategy and growth 
objectives. 

 
7.3.2.  Areas of Opportunity include strategic sites within King’s Lynn and 

surrounding areas that have the potential to deliver significant 
improvements in urban quality, connectivity and land use. They can 
also include Brownfield land. Within these Areas of Opportunity, 
bespoke design guidance or codes to ensure a high-quality 
development is achieved. Within these Areas of Opportunity, the Local 
Plan encourages design excellence, sustainability and heritage 
sensitivity. 

 
7.4 Great Yarmouth Borough Council 
 
7.4.1. Have an adopted Design Code SPD which was adopted in January 

20243, which supports existing design-based policies in the Local Plan. 
This covers both urban and rural area and provides detailed design 
principles and character area guidance. Its main focus is on: 

 
 Building form and massing 

 Street layout and connectivity 

 Materials and detailing 

 Public realm and landscaping 

7.4.2. This Design Code is available as an interactive online document for 
ease of use. Their guidance also separates into area specific design 
requirements which offers detailed guidance based on different areas 

                                                 
3 Great Yarmouth Design Code 

Page 21

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/collections/a548c634873d4b6d946cbf52048e37e7?item=5


 

 

and housing types across their district, whilst also separating Great 
Yarmouth itself into different categories.  

 
7.5 Norwich City Council 
 
7.5.1.  Norwich City Council4 uses supplementary planning documents for 

design guidance as part of the Greater Norwich Local Plan which was 
adopted in March 2024. Norwich City Council do not have a standalone 
Design Code. 

 

7. Proposals and Options  

7.1 Areas of Opportunity 

 

7.1.1.  King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council are taking an alternative 
approach to others in identifying Areas of Opportunity instead of an 
area-wide design code. This approach ensures high-quality design 
however, it is only highly effective in neglected areas of a settlement 
that could benefit from new development, such as brownfield land of 
which NNDC has a lack of in suitable locations for development. 
Therefore, this approach would not be feasible with the more rural 
setting of North Norfolk. 

 
7.2 North Norfolk Design Guide update 
 
7.2.1.  As mentioned above, NNDC’s adopted design guide is now 

considerably out of date within the context of national legislation and 
the Government’s intention to ensure design is better implemented 
through the NPPF and national design documentation, it is considered 
imperative that that the Council’s design guide is updated and brought 
in line with up-to-date national guidance and reflects the new Local 
Plan and the policies therein. This would involve reviewing the existing 
design guide and identifying areas where legislative and policy updates 
are necessary, it would also require review of the supporting evidence 
base, if any local character assessment, landscape assessments and 
appropriate Neighbourhood planning policies etc have been produced 
since the adoption of the Council’s design guide then these will need 
documenting.  

 
7.2.2. The design guide will also need to be restructured to take into account 

its support of National Design Principles as set out in the NDG and 
NMDC, ensuring the updated guide is supportive rather than counter 
intuitive. There are two options for updating the design guide: 

 

 Option 1 – Start Fresh: Given the work required to update the 

guide to current standards and practices, the Council could 

                                                 
4 Document downloads - Planning policy | Norwich City Council 

Page 22

https://www.norwich.gov.uk/downloads/20022/planning_policy


 

 

disregard the current design guide and conduct a full restart. This 

would be easier but could take a long time to produce 

 Option 2 – Update existing Design Guide: The Council could 

use the existing adopted document and re-write elements that 

need updating but retain parts that are still relevant. In addition, 

the design guide will need to be updated to reflect the policies in 

the Local Plan that would have an impact on site design. The 

Design Guide could also include any Council wide projects or 

initiatives that can be incorporated which may be relevant to the 

purpose of the guide.  

 Option 3 – Review web-based Design Guide: The Council 

could revive the desktop version of the design guide that was 

consulted on but never progressed passed this first stage. This 

would help digitise the guide in a more interactive way and 

improve accessibility but would require new content and a new 

webpage and design, and then future and ongoing monitoring 

which would be time consuming and costly. However, this option 

could be adopted at a later date, utilising in-house expertise after 

the design guide and code/s have been produced. Great 

Yarmouth have digitised their design guidance and is a good 

example of how this can be achieved.  

7.2.3.  It is likely that all the aforementioned approaches will be undertaken on 
a project management basis and implemented through the use of 
appropriately commissioned third-party specialists. 

7.3 Area-Wide Design Code 

 

7.3.1.  An area-wide design code offers broader coverage across the district, 
ensuring consistent design quality and supporting strategic objectives 
such as enhancing local character and promoting sustainable 
development. NNDC has a diverse range of local character e.g. coastal 
settlements and those situated along the Norfolk Broads, or the area 
identified within the National Landscape and larger urban areas like 
North Walsham.  

 
7.3.2.  An area-wide code could provide specific expectations and 

requirements for design that the Council would want to see new 
development adhere to, and this could be achieved by identifying 
different character areas adjusting design requirements to match. 
However, whilst this approach would ensure consistent design 
principles across the district, it is important to balance this with the 
need for development and the Council’s housing targets, therefore an 
area-wide design code should not be restrictive but rather supportive of 
new growth. It may therefore be more cost effective and less restrictive 
to produce design codes tailored to specific features or characteristics 
relating to sensitive landscapes or features. 

Page 23



 

 

7.4 Character Specific Design Codes 

 

7.4.1.  Rather than creating an area-wide code which would need to take into 
account all areas of North Norfolk and produce curated coding for 
each, the design guide could include character specific design codes 
which reflect areas of the district that require specific attention. 
However, this approach would need to be informed by further scoping 
work to identify which locations would be the most suitable and in the 
most need of a design code to ensure sensitive design. As an example, 
these could be separated into the following locations: 

 

 Area covered by the Norfolk Coast National Landscape 

designation 

 Main transport corridors such as the A140 

 Norfolk Norfolk’s coastline and coastal settlements 

 Areas sensitive to nationally significant heritage assets. 

7.4.2. This approach would streamline the area-wide design code process 
and possibly quicken overall timescales for completion. This approach 
could also incorporate elements of design codes from strategic sites to 
ensure their delivery. This option would, however, leave parts of the 
district without specific design principles in place which could 
encourage developers to direct growth aspirations to those areas 
where design guidance is less stringent. The update can also provide 
the required context and expected structure and detailing the Council 
would expect to see in site-specific design codes to provide a 
standardised template that meets our expectations. This would then 
benefit both developers and potentially neighbourhood plan groups. 

 
7.4.3.  Although a significant number of allocations are now coming forward, 

including the North Walsham West Urban Extension which already 
includes the requirement for a design code, and the allocation for 
Fakenham, F01 already has outline planning permission, this approach 
may be too late to inform much of the larger sites, nevertheless it would 
put in place codes which could be linked to the higher levels of future 
growth expected/Local Plan review. 

 
7.5 Design Code Templates 
 
7.5.1.  There is an additional option whereby the design guide update could 

also provide required context and expected structure and detailing what 
the Council would expect to see in site-specific design codes to provide 
a standardised template that meets our expectations, which could then 
support future Local Plan policies. This would then benefit both 
developers and neighbourhood plan groups who may go on and create 
their own local codes. 

 

8. Financial and Resource Implications 

Page 24



 

 

8.1.   Internal team: Senior Planning Policy Officers, alongside cross 
department working between senior planners and senior CDI officer(s) 
in addition to GIS support. External support: Specialist consultancy to 
draft and update the design guide and coding.  
 

8.2.  The average cost of an Area-Wide Design Code can range from 
£75,000 – £160,000, however a specific design code tailored to a more 
defined location will be more cost-effective. Updating a design guide 
can cost up to £50,000 depending on content and length of the design 
guide, if the Council were to consider implementing a web-based 
version then the cost will be potentially higher. The actual cost will 
depend on the final tender, which will undergo a competitive tendering 
process in line with Council procedures. 

 
 

Provisional Project Timeline 

Tender Consultation February 2026 

Contract start date March 2026 

Inception meeting March 2026 

Scoping/analysis (third 
party) stages & consultation 

April – July 2026 

Visioning stages & 
consultation 

April – September 2026 

Preparation of coding 
guidance 

October – December 2026 

Publication of Final Draft 
Design Code 

January 2027 

 
 

 

Comments from the S151 Officer: 

The S151 Officer (or member of the Finance team on their behalf) will 
complete this section.  

 

 

 

9. Legal Implications 

9.1. It is considered there are no specific legal implications associated with this 
report. However, the production of an updated Design Guide would help the 
Council maintain up to date guidance and adherence to national policy 
expectations.  

 

 

Comments from the Monitoring Officer 

The Monitoring Officer (or member of the Legal team on behalf of the MO) 
will complete this section. They will outline any legal advice provided. 

Page 25



 

 

No specific legal issues arise from this report, but the introduction of design 
codes will help to ensure compliance with national policy and statutory 
requirements.  

 

 

 

10. Risks 
 

10.1.  The Council’s current Design Guide is already out of date with national 
policy and guidance, and with the production of the new Local Plan 
delaying an update to this document will exacerbate this issue further, 
creating more uncertainty and the potential for less influence in design 
at the application/pre-application stage going forward.  

10.2.   As other local authorities update their own design guidance, not updating 
ours will leave the Council in a weaker position with regard to enforcing 
appropriate design principles in future developments, potentially leading 
to higher levels of growth eroding the distinct urban and rural design 
characteristics as developers prioritise the district for their own growth 
aspirations because there are less restrictions surrounding design. With 
the other Norfolk authorities already updating their design guides, should 
Local Government reorganisation go ahead, the district would be left 
without appropriate planning guidance in relation to design. 

 

11. Net ZeroTarget  

 

11.1.  This report has not been assessed against the Net Zero 2030 Strategy 
& Climate Action Plan.  

 

12. Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 

 

12.1 There are no direct implications on equality within this report. 

 

13. Community Safety issues  
 

13.1.   The Local plan design policy ENV8(e) includes references to reducing 
opportunities for crime and antisocial behaviour, creating safe, secure 
and accessible environments. Any review of the Councils design 
guidance would be expected to include detail in relation of this policy 
consideration. 
 
 

14. Conclusion and Recommendations 

 

Page 26



 

 

14.1.   With regard to the implementation of design codes, an Area-Wide 
Design Code presents an opportunity to improve design standards 
across North Norfolk and ensure consistency which might become 
more essential as the Council looks to support its new housing targets. 
An area-wide code would help to ensure design aligns with national 
policy, complements the emerging Local Plan, and addresses gaps in 
existing guidance. However, this approach would include producing 
more detailed guidance for areas in rural areas where, realistically, 
development will not come forward and is likely the least cost-effective 
approach to take. 
 

14.2.   If there are concerns regarding time scales and cost with the above 
approach, then character specific design codes would be a suitable 
alternative that would provide more specific design principles in the 
more sensitive or uniquely identified parts of the district such as the 
Council’s growth locations. However, identifying which suitable areas 
require design coding and should be focussed on could be time 
consuming, costly and requiring additional internal decision-making 
process and delay the overall timeline. Therefore, it may be more 
prudent and cost-effective to provide a template for design codes at a 
site-specific level for developers to follow and adhere to, ensuring the 
Council has control over the quality and content of design codes across 
the district and could from part of a policy requirement for the future 
Local Plan.  
 

14.3.   With regard to updating the design guide, Option 3 detailed would be a 
positive step in modernising the guide but would require producing a 
brand-new webpage which raises some concern regarding its 
monitoring and potential cost. Therefore, Option 2 is most likely the 
quickest and most cost-effective approach with Option 3 being 
implemented at a later date to ensure the design guide keeps up to 
date with accessibility requirements for the future Local Plan if required. 

 

Recommendation 

 

14.4.  1 - That PPBHWP recommend to cabinet that the following options are 
endorsed in order to ensure the Council has a stronger, long-term 
influence of design across the district. 

 
 Option 2 ‘Update Existing Design Guide’ which would include, in the 
first instance, consultants to provide an in-depth review of the design 
guide and what areas will need updating in the context of national 
guidance and Local Plan policy, whilst also keeping and updating 
relevant material.  
 

2 - With regard to design codes, the Council considers the production 
of a character specific design codes tailored to the growth locations 
within the district where practical, and/or the production of design 

Page 27



 

 

code templates for developers to adhere to as the most practical 
options. 

 
 

Page 28


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	Pages from Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 V2 0121
	Guidance on Local Government A_ Local Government Association 41

	6 Scoping and Options Report: Design Code and Guidance



